IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-1397

PRO-ART DENTAL LAB, INC., A Florida Corporation,

Petitioner/Defendant,

v.

V-STRATEGIC GROUP, LLC, A Florida Corporation,

Respondent/Plaintiff.

An Appeal from the Fourth District Court of Appeal of The State of Florida Case No.: 4D06-5016

PETITIONER'S AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

David H. Charlip, Esq. Florida Bar No. 329932 Charlip Law Group, LC 1930 Harrison Street Suite 208 Hollywood, Florida 33020 954.921.2131 954.921.2191 Facsimile

Eric A. Jacobs, Esq. Eric A. Jacobs, P.A. Florida Bar No. 0189065 1911 Harrison Street Hollywood, Florida 33020 954.929.0678 954.929.0926 Facsimile

Statement Of The Case And Facts

This case arises from a dispute between the Petitioner, as tenant, and the Respondent, as landlord, relating to an alleged agreement to terminate a written lease agreement. The Respondent asserted that an agreement for termination of the leasehold had been reached between the parties and the Petitioner denied any agreement had been reached. The Petitioner refused to surrender possession of the premises to the Respondent based on breach of the disputed agreement. There was no assertion that Petitioner had violated any term or provision of the written lease agreement, failed to pay rent, or otherwise committed an act of default under the lease.

On April 4, 2006, Respondent commenced an action in the County Court in and for Broward County, Florida. (Appendix, pp. 4-8). The Complaint was titled "Complaint For Ejectment" and contained a single count seeking Ejectment. The Complaint neither sought relief for violation of any provision of the existing lease agreement between the parties nor any remedy pursuant to Chapter 83, Part I, Florida Statutes ("Nonresidential Tenancies"). Respondent asserted that the proceeding was governed by the Summary Procedure statute, Section 51.011, Florida Statutes¹, and on April 10, 2006 served the Petitioner with a five-day

¹ While the Lower Tribunals have held that the Complaint in Ejectment contained sufficient allegations of a landlord-tenant dispute, the Respondent has never explained the legal basis for the application of § 51.011 to the proceedings other

summons. (Appendix, p. 9). On April 7, 2006, Respondent filed a Notice of Filing that had appended to it "a copy of the letter dated October 13, 2005 as Exhibit '2' to its Complaint for Ejectment." (Appendix, pp. 10-12).

On April 10, 2006, Petitioner filed a Motion to Dismiss for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction asserting that the County Court lacked subject matter jurisdiction under § 26.012.² (Appendix, pp. 13-14). On April 28, 2006, a hearing was held on the Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss and the County Court entered an order denying the Motion to Dismiss. (Appendix, p. 31). The County Court also noted the appearance of new counsel in the proceedings and, on its own initiative, scheduled a hearing for the following Monday, May 1, 2006, to consider the Respondent's ore tenus motion for default. (Appendix, pp. 24-25). Soon after the hearing, and on the same day, the Petitioner filed its Answer and Affirmative Defenses to the Complaint. (Appendix, pp. 32-34). At the hearing on May 1, 2006 (Appendix, pp. 35-60), the County Court rejected the Petitioner's Answer, announced a default against the Petitioner, and simultaneously entered a Final Judgment for Possession (Appendix, pp. 61-63), specifically ruling that "V-

than Respondent sought possession of the subject property. Conversely, Petitioner continuously argued that § 51.011 did not apply to the proceedings and the statutory remedy of Ejectment does not provide for the applicability of § 51.011 to those proceedings. The express language of § 51.011 states "The procedure in this section applies only to those actions specified by statute or rule."

² An Amended Motion to Dismiss was rejected for filing by the Clerk of the Court. (Appendix, pp. 15-16).

Strategic Group is entitled to the immediate entry of Final Judgment on Count I of Plaintiff's Complaint.", to-wit, Ejectment. The County Court simultaneously directed the issuance of a Writ of Possession "forthwith". On May 3, 2006, the Petitioner sought to obtain a stay in the County Court, however the case file was "closed" on the same day the Judgment of Possession was entered and the Clerk of the County Court refused to accept the Petitioner's stay request. On May 3, 2006, the Petitioner was involuntarily dispossessed.

Petitioner appealed to the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit in and for Broward County, Florida, where the Judgment was affirmed. A subsequent Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Fourth District Court of Appeal was ultimately denied, however as part of the denial of a Motion for Rehearing, the Fourth District Court of Appeal certified direct conflict between its holding and the Fifth District Court of Appeal decision in <u>Crocker v Diland Corporation</u>, 593 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).

On July 26, 2007, Petitioner filed a Notice to Invoke Discretionary Jurisdiction and after the parties fully briefed the jurisdictional issue, this Court accepted jurisdiction to consider the conflict.

3

Summary Of Argument

The Fourth District Court of Appeal has certified conflict with the Fifth District's opinion in <u>Crocker v Diland Corporation</u>, 593 So.2d 1096 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). While both the Fourth and the Fifth District Courts of Appeal recognize and note the significance of the language in § 51.011, Florida Statutes, stating that "all defenses of law and fact shall be contained in defendant's answer which shall be filed within 5 days after service of process", the two District Courts diverge as to the immediate effect of the failure of the defendant to file an answer.

The introductory language of § 51.011 makes the rules of procedure applicable to it "except when this section or the statute or rule prescribing this section provides a different procedure." Section 51.011 does not prescribe the effect of a failure to initially file an answer to a five-day summons. Accordingly, the rules of procedure are applicable and, in the case of a default, Rule 1.500 (c) specifically applies. In <u>Crocker</u>, the Fifth District Court of Appeal looked to the status of the pleadings at the time of the hearing on the motion for default and applied Rule 1.500(c) holding that the filing of any answer or otherwise defending prior to the hearing makes the entry of a default improper. Accordingly, the Fifth District does not construe § 51.011 as abrogating Rule 1.500(c). The Fourth District has conversely held that § 51.011, Florida Statutes, has impliedly superseded Rule 1.500(c), Fla.R.Civ.P. Thus, under the Fourth District's

construction of § 51.011, Florida Statutes, a defendant's failure to file a timely answer results in an *eo instante* default, without further motion or hearing.

The Fourth District's decision in <u>Pro-Art</u> is legislative in nature through its creation of additional procedures in § 51.011 and encroaches on this Court's rulemaking power through the abrogation of rules that would otherwise govern procedures under the express introductory language of § 51.011.

Petitioner asserts that the Fifth District decision in <u>Crocker</u> is correct. <u>Prior</u> to the entry of the default, Petitioner filed and served its Answer to the Respondent's Complaint. The entry of a default in these circumstances has been universally recognized in Florida courts as being improper. <u>Lenhal Realty, Inc. v.</u> <u>Transamerica Commercial Finance Corporation</u>, 611 So.2d 79 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); <u>Graves v. Giordano</u>, 590 So. 2d 1113 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>In Re Estate of Lydia M. Snyder</u>, 562 So.2d 403 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); <u>Haitian Community Flamingo Auto Parts Corp. v. Landmark First National Bank of Ft. Lauderdale</u>, 501 So.2d 170, 171 (Fla. 4th DCA 1987).

ARGUMENT

<u>I</u> <u>Standard of Review</u>

The conflicting decisions of the Fourth and Fifth District Courts of Appeal relate to and are a function of the differing interpretation of § 51.011. There are no disputed underlying facts.

The standard of appellate review on issues involving the interpretation of statutes is de novo. *See <u>State v. Burris</u>*, <u>875 So.2d 408, 410 (Fla. 2004)</u> ("This question of statutory interpretation is subject to *de novo* review."); <u>In</u> <u>re Guardianship of J.D.S., 864 So.2d 534, 537 (Fla. 5th</u> <u>DCA 2004)</u> ("Because this case involves the application of statutory law, and is a pure question of law, the standard of review is *de novo*.").

<u>B.Y. v. Department of Children and Families</u>, 887 So.2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004). <u>See also Mourning v. Ballast Nedam Construction, Inc.</u>, No. 4D06-2557 (Fla. 4th DCA Sept. 26, 2007) (Where the lower court's ruling was as a matter of law, standard of review is de novo); <u>Kone, Inc. v. Robinson</u>, 937 So.2d 238 (Fla. 1st DCA 2006) (A trial court's construction of a statute is reviewed de novo); <u>Chrestensen v. Eurogest, Inc.</u>, 906 So.2d 343 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) (Where facts are undisputed and trial court's conclusions were purely legal, the standard of review is de novo).

<u>II.</u> <u>Procedures Not Specifically Prescribed By Section 51.011, Florida Statutes</u> Are Subject To The Rules Of Civil Procedure

The introductory language to Section 51.011, Florida Statutes, provides:

The procedure in this section applies only to those actions specified by statute or rule. <u>Rules of procedure</u> apply to this section except when this section or the statute or rule prescribing this section provides a different procedure. If there is a difference between the time period prescribed in a rule and in this section, this section governs.

(Emphasis added). Section 51.011 is the result of legislative action authorized pursuant to Rule 1.010, Fla.R.Civ.P. Its enactment has been held not to be the result of an impermissible delegation of the Supreme Court's rule-making power because the rule specifically provided that summary claims procedure statutes would govern only in event that they did not conflict with Rules of Civil Procedure. See Hayden v. Reese, 596 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). Rule 1.090, Fla.R.Civ.P., has been held to be applicable to summary eviction proceedings where "Section 51.011, Florida Statutes (1975) does not prescribe the method of computing the five-day time allowed for the filing of defensive pleadings, ... "Berry v. Clement, 346 So.2d 105, 106 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977). § 51.011 is not unique in this regard. In Traces Fashion Group, Inc. v. C & C Management, Inc., 763 So.2d 502, 503 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000), the Third District Court of Appeal reviewed the summary procedure for issuance of a prejudgment writ of replevin under Section 78.068, Florida Statutes. The Circuit Court had conducted a hearing on the application for prejudgment possession pending trial, but at the hearing entered judgment for the plaintiff and awarded damages. In reversing the Circuit Court's final judgment, the Third District Court of Appeal held:

> Section 78.18 states that plaintiff is entitled to judgment for damages caused by defendants' unlawful detention of the property, but does not indicate when such judgment is to be entered. In fact, Chapter 78 makes no provision for the procedure to be used in adjudicating the ordinary replevin action. We must assume, therefore, that the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure apply, Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.010 cmt. (1967) ("To the extent that statutes dealing specifically with a particular civil action or proceeding do not set out a specific rule for a particular phase would appear to be governed by these rules.").

As noted in the ensuing section of this brief, § 51.011 directs that the defendant file an answer containing all defenses of law or fact, but makes no provision for a procedure based upon a defendant's filing of motions or other papers.³ Accordingly, the rules of civil procedure, and particularly Rule 1.500 (c), govern the issue of default in this case.

³ A motion to dismiss is not a pleading. Rule 1.100(a), Fla.R.Civ.P.

<u>III.</u> <u>Section 51.011, Florida Statutes, Does Not Prescribe A Procedure For The</u> Failure Of A Defendant To File An Answer

Section 51.011 (1) sets forth the manner in which pleadings shall be filed

with the court:

Plaintiff's initial pleading shall contain the matters required by the statute or rule prescribing this section or, if none is so required, shall state a cause of action. All defenses of law or fact shall be contained in defendant's answer which shall be filed within 5 days after service of process. If the answer incorporates a counterclaim, plaintiff shall include all defenses of law or fact in his or her answer to the counterclaim and shall serve it within 5 days after service of the counterclaim. No other pleadings are permitted. All defensive motions, including motions to quash, shall be heard by the court prior to trial.

Section 51.011 does <u>not</u> address the procedure to govern the court when a defendant fails to answer, or if a pleading other than one containing defenses of law or fact is filed with the court. "The summary procedure statutes envision an expedited process to determine the right to possession of property promptly without the necessity of deciding all other issues between the parties." <u>Camena Investments and Property Management Corp. v. Cross</u>, 791 So.2d 595 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001), <u>review denied</u>, 821 So.2d 293. Clearly, the legislature purposefully created a procedure that was designed to avoid protracted litigation in certain expressly identified types of actions. It is equally clear that the legislature, conscious that the rules of procedure would apply where it failed to speak, elected

not to declare the result of a defendant's failure to file an answer under § 51.011 (1) as an automatic default. To do so would constitute impermissible rule-making reserved to this Court. Notwithstanding, this is the construction given to the statute in the Fourth District's opinion in <u>Pro-Art</u>. As noted in the order denying Pro-Art's Motion for Rehearing and certifying conflict with <u>Crocker</u>, the Fourth District stated:

Rule 1.500(c) allows a defendant to file an answer "at any time before a default is entered." *Crocker* applies this rule in a Chapter 51 case.

Such an application of rule 1.500(c) would allow, as a matter of routine, the filing of answers after five days of service of process. The practice *Crocker* condones contravenes the mandatory time limit of section 51.011(1). <u>Rule 1.500(c) does not say that it applies in Chapter 51 actions; it does not therefore "specifically provide" a contrary time limit rule, as is required by rule 1.010 to modify the time for pleading contained in a special statutory proceeding. Therefore, rule 1.500(c) does not apply to allow the filing of an untimely answer in a Chapter 51 proceeding, even one filed before the entry of a default.</u>

(Emphasis supplied). Pro-Art respectfully asserts that this language is directly contrary to the introductory provision of § 51.011. By virtue of the absence of a stated procedure for default, § 51.011 applies Rule 1.500 to summary proceedings. The above-quoted language from <u>Pro-Art</u> relies on the absence of language in Rule 1.500 make the statute control.

The above-quoted language from <u>Pro-Art</u> is also a clear overstatement of the

effect of the application of Rule 1.500 to § 51.011. For example, in carrying out its intent to expedite certain types of actions, §51.011 requires that while the parties may engage in discovery, "[N]o discovery postpones the time for trial except for good cause shown or by stipulation of the parties." § 51.011 (2). Further, if a jury trial is demanded, "the action may be tried immediately; otherwise, the court shall order a special venire to be summoned immediately." The party demanding jury trial is required to deposit monies with the clerk to pay the jury fees. § 51.011 (3). In fact, while the court may advance the matter on its calendar and set a trial date in the absence of a defendant's answer and defenses, the more likely source of delay will come from a request for discovery.

<u>IV.</u> <u>The Decision In Pro-Art Is Legislative In Nature And Invades The Rule-</u> <u>Making Power Reserved To This Court</u>

The authority of the legislature to adopt rules of summary procedure originates in Rule 1.010, Fla.R.Civ.P. and has been held not to be an unconstitutional delegation of the rule-making power of this Court. <u>See Hayden v.</u> <u>Reese</u>, 596 So.2d 1207 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). "We find that rule 1.010 itself demonstrates that it is not unconstitutional in that it provides that the summary procedure statutes govern only in the event that they do not conflict with the Rules of Civil Procedure." <u>Hayden</u>, at 1208. <u>See also Lane v. Brith</u>, 313 So.2d 91 (Fla. 4th DCA 1975). "... it is not the court's duty or prerogative to modify or shade

clearly expressed legislative intent in order to uphold a policy favored by the court. See McDonald v. Roland, 65 So.2d 12 (Fla.1953)." Holly v. Auld, 450 So.2d 215, 219 (Fla. 1984). Rules of practice and procedure are the "machinery of the judicial process" and are reserved to the Supreme Court. Art. V, § 2(a), Fla. Const. (1968); Haven Federal Savings & Loan Association v. Kirian, 579 So.2d 730, 732 (Fla. 1991); In re Commitment: Cartwright, 870 So.2d 152, 158 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). ". . . the limitation upon the legislature enacting procedural law is not absolute. Rather, it is prohibited only in the event the proposed statute conflicts with an existing rule of procedure adopted by the supreme court." Williams v. First Union National Bank of Florida, 591 So.2d 1137, 1139 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). § 51.011 is a paradigm for these statements. To carry out a public policy encouraging the prompt and efficient administration of actions relating to possession of real property, the legislature enacted § 51.011. The legislature was careful to avoid including matters conflicting with existing rules of procedure, e.g., Rule 1.500.

The construction given to § 51.011 in the <u>Pro-Art</u> decision expands the statute beyond its plain language and the legislative intent. By judicial fiat, the Fourth District Court of Appeal has essentially legislated an *eo instante* default provision into § 51.011. Additionally, this construction has placed the "Pleadings" subdivision of § 51.011 in direct conflict with Rule 1.500(c). This has been done despite the plain absence of a legislative intent to do so and, further, in the face of

language clearly applying Rule 1.500 in the absence of such a legislative statement. Accordingly, the <u>Pro-Art</u> decision is either an impermissible encroachment on the legislature or a promulgation of rules of procedure reserved to this Court, or both.

<u>V.</u> <u>Crocker Correctly Applies Rule 1.500 (c) to Section 51.011</u>

The Fifth District Court of Appeal decision in <u>Crocker</u> correctly applies Rule 1.500(c) to Section 51.011. The <u>Crocker</u> court did not modify or shade the express language of § 51.011. "All defenses of law or fact must be filed in an answer within five days." <u>Crocker</u>, 593 So.2d at 1099. Recognizing this statutory pleading obligation placed on the defendant, the Fifth District Court of Appeal went on to hold:

In short, we conclude that Diland was wrong in relying on its motion to dismiss to toll the time to file its answer. It was obliged to file all of its defenses, including failure to state a cause of action, within five days and by failing to do so was <u>exposed</u> to entry of default. <u>Diland's failure</u> to timely file does not end our analysis, however, because the ultimate issue is Crocker's entitlement to a default. <u>Under the rule governing defaults, if a party who has</u> appeared fails to timely plead, but does plead or otherwise defend before the hearing on the motion for <u>default, a default is improper.</u>

Crocker at 1100. (Emphasis added).

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