# IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE No. SC07-1397

#### PRO-ART DENTAL LAB, INC.

Petitioner,

v.

## V-STRATEGIC GROUP, LLC

Respondent.

# RESPONDENT V-STRATEGIC GROUP, LLC'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

# ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

Craig Barnett, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 0035548
Cory W. Eichhorn, Esq.
Florida Bar No. 0576761
Greenberg Traurig, P.A.
401 East Las Olas Blvd., Suite 2000
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301
Telephone: (954) 765-0500

Telephone: (954) 765-0500 Facsimile: (954) 765-1477

Counsel for V-Strategic Group, LLC

#

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

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Fourth District Court of Appeal correctly determined that a default final judgment was appropriately entered here where a tenant failed to file an answer and affirmative defenses within the five day mandatory time frame set forth in Chapter 51, Florida Statutes for the following reasons: (1) the statute governing a special statutory proceeding and not the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure apply to the form, content, procedure and time for pleading in a special statutory proceeding and (2) the purpose of a Chapter 51 summary proceeding would be frustrated by the application of the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure.

The instant landlord-tenant action, commenced under Chapter 51, constitutes a special statutory proceeding. Accordingly, the form, content, and procedure here are dictated by statute. Florida courts have determined that mandatory time limits prescribed by statute must be applied absent specific language to the contrary in the rules of civil procedure. Moreover, the purpose of an expedited summary procedure under Chapter 51 would be frustrated if a tenant was permitted to file an answer and affirmative defenses after the mandatory five day time period. Application of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.500(c) in this context would require the courts to ignore the plain language of Chapter 51. For these reasons, among others, the Fourth District's Opinion Denying Writ of Certiorari and Opinion Denying Rehearing should be affirmed.

# STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because the conflict issue requires this Court to engage in statutory interpretation, the appropriate standard of review is *de novo*. *Allstate Ins. Co. v. Holy Cross Hosp., Inc.*, 961 So. 2d 328, 331 (Fla. 2007) (citing *Foundation Health v. Westside EKG Assocs.*, 944 So. 2d 188, 193-94 (Fla. 2006)).

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **POINT ONE**

# THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT FLA. STAT. § 51.011 REQUIRES ENTRY OF DEFAULT AGAINST PRO-ART

A. The History of Summary Procedure Reflects That Its Purpose Is to Provide an Expedited Process for Resolution of Claims for Possession in Landlord-Tenant Disputes

At the outset, it is important to note that this is not an ordinary civil action; it is a summary proceeding falling within the ambit of Chapter 51, Florida Statutes. In order to address the issues raised in this matter, a brief review of the purpose and history of summary procedure is appropriate. As the Fourth District noted in its opinion on rehearing, "[t]he purpose of chapter 51 is to provide for an expedited procedure in certain actions and to avoid the protracted procedural dance that is allowed under the rules of civil procedure." *Pro-Art Dental Lab, Inc. v. V-Strategic Group, LLC*, 959 So. 2d 753, 757 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).

Historically, summary procedure in landlord-tenant disputes has a longstanding tradition under Florida law. *See, e.g., Fla. Athletic & Health Club v. Royce*, 33 So. 2d 222 (Fla. 1948). As the Florida Supreme Court held in *Royce*, the purpose of summary procedure is:

to provide a summary legal remedy for restoring possession to prevent criminal disorder and breaches of the peace, which would likely ensue if no summary remedy existed, and the parties undertook to continue to resort to their own private common law means for enforcing their rights in such cases.

#### *Id.* at 224.

Notably, the United States Supreme Court has determined that the "objective of achieving rapid and peaceful settlement of possessory disputes between landlord and tenant has ample historical explanation and support." *Lindsey v. Normet*, 405 U.S. 56, 72, 92 S. Ct. 862, 873 (1974). To that end, the Court has recognized the justification for summary procedure in the landlord-tenant arena:

There are unique factual and legal characteristics of the landlord-tenant relationship that justify special statutory treatment inapplicable to other litigants. The tenant is, by definition, in possession of the property of the landlord; unless a judicially supervised mechanism is provided for what would otherwise be swift repossession by the landlord himself, the tenant would be able to deny the landlord the rights of income incident to ownership by refusing to pay rent and by preventing sales or rental to someone else. Many expenses of the landlord, continue to accrue whether a tenant pays his rent or not. Speedy adjudication is desirable to prevent subjecting the landlord to undeserved economic loss and the tenant to unmerited harassment and dispossession when his lease or rental agreement gives him the right to peaceful and undisturbed possession of the property. Holding over by the tenant beyond the term of his agreement or holding without payment of rent has proved a virulent source of friction and dispute.

#### *Id.* at 405 U.S. 72-73, 92 S.Ct. 873-74.

The summary procedure adopted by the Florida Legislature in Chapter 51, Florida Statutes, provides an efficient means of resolving landlord tenant disputes within a much narrower window of time than a routine civil action. It is within this framework that this case must be analyzed.

# B. The Florida Rules of Civil Procedure Do Not Apply to the Form, Content, Procedure and Time for Pleading in a Special Statutory Proceeding

Because this case was brought pursuant to Chapter 51, the rules regarding form and timing of filing pleadings are as directed by statute. Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.010 provides, in pertinent part, that:

The form, content, procedure, and time for pleading in all special statutory proceedings shall be as prescribed by the statutes governing the proceeding unless these rules specifically provide to the contrary.

Notably, the Authors' Comment to Rule 1.010 states that:

The rules are by their terms clearly applicable to County Judge's courts, but, of course *do not control* probate proceedings, *landlord and tenant proceedings*, or other special statutory proceedings in that court.

\*\*\*

Except where they conflict with statutory provisions, the rules may serve as a useful guide for approved procedure even in courts, agencies or proceedings to which not expressly applicable.

(emphasis added).

This Court has made clear that statutes governing special statutory proceedings control in the absence of a contrary rule of civil procedure:

[T]his Court has adopted Rule 1.010, Fla. R. Civ. P., which provides that the form content, procedure and time for pleadings in all statutory special proceedings . . . shall be prescribed by the statutes for such proceedings, unless the civil rules specifically provide to the contrary.

#### Gonzalez v. Badcock's Home Furnishing Cen., 343 So. 2d 7, 8 (Fla. 1977).

Even in the event of a conflict between a statute governing special proceedings and a rule of civil procedure, this Court has held that the statute controls. *See Harley v. Board of Public Instruction of Duval County*, 103 So. 2d 111 (Fla. 1958). In *Harley*, a circuit court dismissed a school teacher's petition for writ of certiorari in a special statutory proceeding on the basis that the petition was not filed within the ten day time frame set forth in the Duval County Teacher Tenure Act. On appeal, the school teacher argued that the sixty time period to file a petition provided in the Florida Rules of Civil Procedure took precedence over the statutory deadline. This Court rejected the school teacher's argument and affirmed the dismissal of the petition as untimely. In so doing, the Court held:

This act, although it is a special statute, provides in the language of appellee, a 'new, specific and complete remedy and fully covers the subject matter of teacher tenure, including the employment, contracts, continuing contracts, suspension and dismissal of teachers.' It is evident that its terms control over those of the general statutes covering the county school system . . . and over the 1954 Rules, where a conflict exists, as here.

#### *Id.* at 112.

Although Florida's district courts of appeal have not directly addressed the interplay between Rule 1.010 and Chapter 51 proceedings, in analogous cases involving special statutory proceedings, courts have held that the time periods provided in the statute must be strictly construed. See, e.g., Dracon Constr., Inc. v. Fac. Constr. Manag., Inc., 828 So. 2d 1069, 1071 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002) (affirming order vacating liens where enforcement action or proper showing was not made within twenty day time period set forth by statute governing mechanic's liens); Sturge v. LCS Dev. Corp., 643 So. 2d 53, 54 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (granting certiorari with respect to denial of motion to discharge where lienor failed to strictly comply with statute); and *Matrix Constr. Corp. v. Mecca Constr.*, 578 So. 2d 388, 389 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991) (granting certiorari where motion for enlargement of time had elapsed and no showing had been made as to why liens should not be discharged).

Although arising in the context of enforcement of a mechanic's lien, the Fourth District recognized that in special statutory proceedings, courts do not have the latitude to permit litigants to ignore the time periods set by statute that may be permitted under the rules of civil procedure: "[i]n a special statutory proceeding, such as one under Section 713.21(4), the trial court does not have the same discretion to bend time requirements that might be allowed under the rules of civil

procedure." *Dracon*, 828 So. 2d at 1071. In that case, because the enforcement action was not taken timely with respect to a mechanic's lien, the lien was vacated.

Here, Chapter 51 governs this special statutory proceeding. Fla. Stat. § 51.011 provides, in pertinent part, that "[a]ll defenses of law or fact shall be contained in defendant's answer which shall be filed within 5 days after service of (emphasis added). The statute leaves no room for interpretation. process." Simply put, "all" means "all." But if a definition is required, the word "all" is defined as "the whole amount or quantity; as much as possible; every member or individual component of; every." Webster's Ninth New Collegiate Dictionary 70 (9th ed. 1988). The requirement of Chapter 51 is mandatory. See City of Miami v. Save Brickell Ave., Inc., 426 So. 2d 1100, 1105 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (holding that "[i]n statutory construction, the word 'may' when given its ordinary meaning denotes a permissive term rather than the mandatory connotation of the word 'shall.""). The statute supersedes any rule of civil procedure to the contrary, including Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.500(c), which governs the entry of default judgments. Similar to *Dracon*, *Sturge* and *Matrix*, the time limits set forth in Chapter 51 must be applied absent specific language to the contrary in the rules of procedure. Pro-Art's failure to comply with the explicit five day time frame to answer in a summary proceeding under Chapter 51 must result in a default judgment in favor of V-Strategic. As in Dracon, the county court here did not have the same

discretion that it might have had in an ordinary civil action to disregard Pro-Art's failure to comply with the five day time frame for filing an answer. Simply stated, by virtue of Pro-Art's non-compliance, the county court was required to enter a default final judgment in V-Strategic's favor.

# C. The Purpose of a Chapter 51 Summary Proceeding Would be Frustrated by Pro-Art's Suggested Application of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.500(c)

In its Initial Brief on the Merits, Pro-Art contends that Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.500(c) controls, and, therefore, it should have been permitted to file an answer asserting new affirmative defenses after the expiration of the five day time period set forth in Chapter 51. Pro-Art's contention ignores the express language of Chapter 51. Moreover, its suggested application of Fla. R. Civ. P. 1.500(c) would frustrate the specific purpose of a summary proceeding in landlord-tenant cases under Chapter 51.

Pro Art cites *Traces Fashion Group, Inc. v. C&C Mgmt.*, Inc., 763 So. 2d 502 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000). *Traces* is distinguishable. In *Traces*, the plaintiff sued for replevin, breach of contract and unjust enrichment/quantum meruit. The plaintiff also moved for prejudgment writ of replevin under Fla. Stat. § 78.068, which was granted. *Id.* at 502. The defendant then filed its answer and affirmative defenses. *Id.* at 503. The plaintiff subsequently moved for summary judgment as to its complaint. Upon the plaintiff's motion and without trial, the trial court

summarily found in favor of plaintiff and awarded damages. *Id.* In so doing, the trial court incorrectly applied the deadlines pertaining to the prejudgment writ from Section 78.068(6). Reversing, the Third District concluded that the trial court misapplied the procedure for prejudgment writ to the summary judgment. *Id.* Because Chapter 78 "makes no provision for the [summary procedure of Section 78.068] to be used in adjudicating the ordinary replevin action," the Third District held that the rules of civil procedure, including Rule 1.510(c) requiring the motion be served at least twenty days before the hearing, applied. *Id.* 

The facts at issue here are entirely different than those at issue in *Traces*. In *Traces*, the claims did not fall within the special statutory proceeding and, thus, because the statute did not contain any specific procedure to be followed, the rules of civil procedure applied. Here, there is no dispute that Section 51.011 controls the claims raised by V-Strategic in the underlying matter and sets forth the exact form, content and procedure to be followed in this case. That said, there is no basis to apply the rule of civil procedure. In fact, application of Rule 1.500(c), as Pro-Art argues, would only frustrate the purpose of Chapter 51.

Although no Florida court has directly addressed this issue, at least two courts outside this jurisdiction have made clear that general rules of civil procedure should not be used to frustrate the purpose of a statute governing a special

proceeding. See, e.g., Brusco v. Braun, 199 A.D. 2d 27 (N.Y.A.D. 1 Dept. 1993) and Weems v. McCloud, 619 F.2d 1081 (11th Cir. 1980).

In *Brusco*, a case with virtually identical facts to this matter, the New York appellate court addressed whether the general rule of civil procedure requiring an inquest be conducted prior to entering a default judgment applied in a summary proceeding brought under statute, where the former tenant had failed to file an answer within the five day time period set by the legislature. The landlord had brought the action against a tenant seeking possession of the premises under New York's law governing landlord-tenant cases. 199 A.D. at 28. The Real Property and Proceedings Law ("RPAPL") at issue provided that in the event a tenant failed to answer within five days from the date of service, the court should render judgment in favor of the landlord. Id. at 29. A Civil Practice Law and Rule ("CPLR") governing general civil actions, however, provided that prior to the entry of a default judgment, a court was required to hold an inquest and hear testimony Based on this CPLR, the trial court denied the landlord's from the tenant. application for a default judgment. On appeal, the landlord argued that the RPAPL took precedence over the CPLR because the landlord-tenant dispute was, among other things, summary in nature. The appellate court agreed and reversed the trial court decision. In so doing, the court held that the statute controlled:

Applying the rules of statutory construction to the conflicting provisions, it is clear that CPLR 3215 is

inconsistent with, and thus superseded by, the provision of RPAPL 732 (citations omitted) . . . . Similarly had the Legislature intended CPLR 3215(b) to be applicable to summary proceedings, Section 1402 of the New York City Civil Court Act, governing entry of default judgments generally, would indicate as much. provision goes to some length to state the rather obvious proposition that a summons endorsed complaint 'shall be deemed 'the summons and complaints' referred to in CPLR 3215(e). Conspicuously absent from CCA 1402 is any mention of the petition and notice of petition. Applying the principle expressio unius est exclusio the omissio n indicates alterius. that summary proceedings pursuant to the Real Property Actions and Proceedings Law are not intended to be embraced within its scope and are therefore not subject to the procedures set forth in CPLR 3215.

#### *Id*. at 31.

Significantly, the court rejected the same type of argument that Pro-Art makes here:

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